I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

W ahkiakum County asks this court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The County petitions for review of the decision of Division II of the Court 

of Appeals filed November 4, 2014, reversing the Superior Court of 

Cowlitz County and declaring Wahkiakum County's Ordinance # 151-11 

unconstiututional. The decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 

A-16. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. What is the standard of review for the determination of 

constitutionality of a duly enacted county ordinance? 

2. When reviewing a grant or denial of summary judgment, 

may an appellate court rely on facts outside the record below? 

3. Is the W ahkiakum County biosolids ordinance 

constitutional? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 1992, the State of Washington, in compliance with the federal 

Clean Water Act, 33 USC §1251 et. seq., changed its regulatory scheme 

for certain types of solid waste by coining the term "biosolids," defining 

the term as "municipal sewage sludge that is a primarily organic, 

semisolid product resulting from the wastewater treatment process, that 

can be beneficially recycled and meets all requirements under this 

chapter" and "septic tank sludge, also known as septage, that can be 

beneficially recycled and meets all requirements under this chapter." 

RCW 70.951.010(1). RCW 70.951 then regulated biosolids, and 

additionally authorized plaintiff Department of Ecology (hereinafter, 

"Department" or "the Department") to create additional administrative 

regulations. RCW 70.951.020. 

The legislature further acknowledged that "sewage sludge can 

contain metals and microorganisms that, under certain circumstances, may 

pose a risk to public health." RCW 70.951.007(e). This accords with 

federal law acknowledging that sludge contains "toxic pollutants." 33 

USC 1345(d)(2)(a)(i). More specifically, after public hearings on the 

subject, the W ahkiakum County commission found that biosolids and 

septage contain toxic metals such as "arsenic, cadmium, copper, lead, 
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mercury, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, and zinc;" that they contain 

deadly microorganisms such as "e. coli, heliobacter pylori, legionella, 

cryptosporidium, giardia, and various viruses;" and that "disease and 

heavy metal contamination constitute potential threats to the life and 

health of humans, pets, livestock, crops, and also the natural flora and 

wildlife of the County." The Ordinance is attached as Appendix B. 

The Department adopted a regulatory scheme calling for treatment 

of biosolids to varying levels set by the Department and regulating how 

each class can be disposed of. The highest level of treatment is Class A, 

which is the only class of biosolids in which all disease-causing 

microorganisms have been destroyed. WAC 173-308-160. No level or 

class of biosolids has been treated to eliminate toxic metal contamination. 

The Department provided at WAC 173-308-030(6): "Facilities and 

sites where biosolids are applied to the land must comply with other 

applicable federal, state and local laws, regulations, and ordinances, 

including zoning and land use requirements." 

On April 26, 2011, the Board of Commissioners of W ahkiakum 

County enacted an ordinance (hereafter, "the Ordinance") that restricted 

land application of biosolids (as opposed to burial or incineration, the 
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other methods by which biosolids can be disposed of) to Class A biosolids 

only. Appendix A. The Board did not restrict the time, place, or manner 

of disposal of Class A biosolids or make any restriction regarding the 

burial or incineration of Class B biosolids or septage. Id. The State of 

Washington Department of Ecology filed suit against Wahkiakum County 

in Cowlitz County Superior Court, seeking a declaration that the 

Ordinance is unconstitutional. Appendix C. The trial court ruled as 

follows on summary judgment: 

The Department has the burden of proving the Ordinance 
unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 
Immelt, 150 Wn.App. 681, 686, 208 P.3d 1256, 1259 
(2009), reversed on other grounds, 173 Wn.2d 1 (2011). 
See also Johnson v. Johnson, 96 Wn.2d 255, 258, 634 P.2d 
877 (1981) ("To prevail, [Johnson] must demonstrate that 
statute's invalidity beyond a reasonable doubt and rebut the 
presumption that all legally necessary facts exist") (internal 
quotes omitted). Every presumption will be in favor of 
constitutionality. Lenci v. City of Seattle, 63 Wn.2d 664, 
667-8, 388 P.2d 926 (1964). All facts necessary to 
establish the legality of an ordinance are presumed to exist 
until disproved by the challenger. Johnson, supra .... 

The Department has been given two opportunities to 
establish the facts necessary to overcome its burden in this 
case, but it has failed to do so. The record herein: 

a. Does not establish that the Ordinance constitutes a "ban" 
on biosolids application within the County. 

b. Does not establish that the Ordinance prohibits what the 
State "unconditionally allows." Ritchie v. Markley, 23 
Wn.App. 569, 597 P.2d 449 (1979). 
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c. Does not establish that the Ordinance cannot be 
harmonized with the laws and regulations of the State of 
Washington. . .. 

No issue of material fact exists since all facts not otherwise 
proved are presumed to favor constitutionality. Johnson, 
supra. 

Appendix D, p. 3. 

The Superior Court therefore found in favor of the Ordinance's 

constitutionality and so declared. Appendix D, p. 4. The Department 

timely appealed. 

On appeal, the County was joined by amicus curiae Lewis County, 

Washington; while the Department's part was taken up by amici 

Northwest Biosolids Management, Inc., and Natural Selections Farms, 

Inc., et. al. Each of the amicus briefs filed in favor of the Department's 

position contained additional factual allegations not contained in the 

record below, and the County's objection and motion to strike such 

allegations was denied. See, e.g., amicus brief of Natural Selection, et. al., 

in Appendix E; County's Motion to Strike and Answer to the same; and 

the Division II ruling regarding County's motion. The Court of Appeals's 

opinion in favor of the Department and reversing the Superior Court cited 

to facts from the brief of amicus Natural Selection, et. al. Opinion, 8. 
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W ahkiakum County now seeks review from this court. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l), the Decision of the Court of 
Appeals is in Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court 
Establishing the Standard of Review of a City or County Ordinance's 
Constitutionality. 

The first holding of the panel in Division II contaminated the entire 

remaining opinion. At page 4 of its opinion, it announces it will review 

this case de novo using the standard "as a matter of law." In a footnote, it 

explicitly refuses to use the standard of "unconstitutional beyond a 

reasonable doubt." The panel is half right. Appellate courts review 

summary judgment motions de novo, owing no duty of deference to the 

trial court. Smith v. Safeco, 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003). 

But "the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court." 

Id., quoting Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wash.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 

1068 (2002). And, as that inquiry is one into the constitutionality of a 

duly passed municipal ordinance, it is an inquiry that must be made in a 

certain way, with certain presumptions. 

This court has made it clear, in a line of cases that goes back at 

least to 1921, that to find the enactment of a city or county 

unconstitutional requires proof of unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable 
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doubt. This, propounded by this court in 2010, was before the Court of 

Appeals, having been quoted in its entirety in the County's response to 

amicus Northwest Biosolids Management Association: 

In Washington, it is well established that statutes are presumed 
constitutional and that a statute's challenger has a heavy burden to 
overcome that presumption; the challenger must prove that the statute is 
unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. Wash. Fed'n of State 
Employees v. State, 127 Wash.2d 544, 558, 901 P.2d 1028 (1995). This 
standard, that we will not declare a statute unconstitutional "unless its 
conflict with the constitution is plain beyond a reasonable doubt," 
stretches all the way back to our holding in Parrott & Co. v. Benson, 114 
Wash. 117, 122, 194 P. 986 ( 1921 ). This standard has appeared throughout 
our jurisprudence. See State v. Maciolek, 101 Wash.2d 259, 263, 676 P.2d 
996 (1984); see also State v. Aver, 109 Wash.2d 303, 306--07, 745 P.2d 
4 79 ( 1987). We discussed the reasoning behind the standard in Island 
County v. State, 135 Wash.2d 141, 147, 955 P.2d 377 (1998): 

"[T]he "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard used when a statute 
is challenged as unconstitutional refers to the fact that one challenging a 
statute must, by argument and research, convince the court that there is no 
reasonable doubt that the statute violates the constitution. The reason for 
this high standard is based on our respect for the legislative branch of 
government as a co-equal branch of government, which, like the court, is 
sworn to uphold the constitution .... Additionally, the Legislature speaks 
for the people and we are hesitant to strike a duly enacted statute unless 
fully convinced, after a searching legal analysis, that the statute violates 
the constitution." 

We later reaffirmed our understanding that a demanding standard 
is justified because "we assume the Legislature considered the 
constitutionality of its enactments and afford great deference to its 
judgment." Tunstall v. Bergeson, 141 Wash.2d 201, 220, 5 P.3d 691 
(2000). 

School Districts' Alliance for Adequate Funding of Special Educ. 
v. State, 170 Wn.2d 599, 605-06, 244 P.3d 1, 4-5 (2010). 
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The burden of the challenger to prove the unconstitutionality of a 

duly adopted enactment applies as strongly to ordinances as statutes. This 

court has applied it to city ordinances in Seattle v. Eze, 111 Wn.2d 22, 26, 

759 P.2d 366 (1988) (Seattle ordinance proscribing disorderly conduct); 

City of Pasco v. Shaw, 161 Wn.2d 450, 458, 166 P.3d 1157 (2007) (city 

ordinance requiring landlords to obtain a certificate of inspection). This 

court has applied it to counties in Citizens for More Important Things v. 

King Cnty., 131 Wash. 2d 411, 413, 932 P.2d 135, 136 (1997) (county 

ordinance regarding the Mariners stadium); Kitsap Cnty. v. Mattress 

Outlet/Gould, 153 Wash. 2d 506, 509, 104 P.3d 1280, 1283 (2005) 

(county sign ordinance). And the burden was litigated in trial briefs. E.g., 

p. 4-5 of Wahkiakum's initial memorandum, attached as Appendix F. 

Further, the Superior Court applied the proper burden in its decision. 

Appendix D, p. 3. By refusing to apply the proper burden, the Court of 

Appeals denigrates the rulings of this court and places into doubt each and 

every holding in the Court of Appeals's opinion. 

For instance, at 6-9 of its opinion, the Division II panel opines that 

Wahkiakum County "prohibits what the State permits." This, of course, 

was heavily litigated below. The County's point was that in this case the 

line between what constitutes "prohibition," which is unconstitutional, and 
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"further regulation," which is both legal and expected, is one on which 

reasonable minds can differ, and thus one which cannot sustain a burden 

of "beyond a reasonable doubt." ~. Brief of Respondent, 11 et. seq 

(attached as Appendix G). 

"A county or local ordinance conflicts with state law when 
it permits or licenses that which the statute forbids and prohibits, and vice 
versa. Judged by such a test, an ordinance is in conflict if it forbids that 
which the statute permits. Where a state statute licenses a particular 
activity, counties may enact reasonable regulations of the licensed activity 
within their borders but they may not prohibit same outright." 

Weden v. San Juan County, 135 Wash.2d 678, 720, 958 P.2d 273 
(1998) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). 

This reasoning carried the day in Welch v. Board of Supervisors of 

Rappahannock County, Va., 888 F.Supp. 753, 759 (W.D.Va.,1995): 

"Here, the County has not passed a complete ban on sewage sludge within 

its boundaries; it simply has banned one of three possible methods of use 

or disposal. [The other two are burial and incineration.] Regardless of the 

EPA's preference for land application, the Ordinance does not conflict 

with the federal standards for use or disposal of sewage sludge." 

The Court of Appeals's duty in this case was to harmonize the 

county's ordinance with the state's statutory scheme if possible and to find 

reasonable ways to uphold the ordinance. King County v. Taxpayers of 

King County, 133 Wash.2d 584, 612, 949 P.2d 1260 (1997) [harmonize if 
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possible], Johnson v. Johnson, 96 Wash.2d 255, 258, 634 P.2d 877, 

882 (1981), State v. Immelt, 150 Wash.App. 681, 686, 208 P.3d 1256, 

1259 (2009) [beyond a reasonable doubt]. But the panel does not mention 

the Welch decision, which perfectly harmonizes a restriction on land 

application of class B biosolids with a statewide statutory scheme. If the 

panel were using the correct burden of persuasion, then by finding to the 

contrary of Welch in this case, it was literally accusing that decision, and 

thus that federal court, of being not just unpersuasive but unreasonable. 

The Court of Appeals failed to apply a number of additional 

presumptions in favor of the ordinance that were cited by the County in its 

brief at 4 et. seq: 

• All legally necessary facts required to uphold 

constitutionality are presumed to exist. Johnson, supra. 

• "[l]nterpret ordinances in a manner which upholds their 

constitutionality if possible." Tukwila School Dist. No. 406 v. City of 

Tukwila, 140 Wash.App. 735, 743, 167 P.3d 1167 (2007), citing Leonard 

v. City of Spokane, 127 Wash.2d 194, 197-98, 897 P.2d 358 (1995). 

• "Every presumption will be in favor of constitutionality." Id. 

(citing Winkenwerder v. City of Yakima, 52 Wash.2d 617, 328 P.2d 873 
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(1958)), HJS Development, Inc. v. Pierce County ex rel. Dept. of 

Planning and Land Services, 148 Wash.2d 451, 478, 61 P.3d 1141, 

1155 (2003) [emphasis added]. 

• "A statute will not be construed as taking away the power of 

a municipality to legislate unless this intent is clearly and expressly 

stated." State ex rel Schillberg v. Everett District Court, 92 Wn.2d 106, 

108, 594 P.2d 448 (1979) [emphasis added]. 

• Note, too, that the Department of Ecology challenged the 

Ordinance on its face, not as applied. "[A] facial challenge must be 

rejected unless there exists no set of circumstances in which the statute can 

constitutionally be applied." Tunstall v. Bergeson, 141 Wn.2d 201, 221, 5 

P.3d 691 (2000) (italics in original), quoting Ada v. Guam Soc'y of 

Obstetricians & Gynecologists, 506 U.S. 1011, 1012, 113 S.Ct. 633, 121 

L.Ed.2d 564 (1992)(Scalia, J. dissenting). Thus, here, the court must be 

"convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that there is no set of 

circumstances in which" the ordinance could be constitutional. ld. 

The Court of Appeals ignores these controlling authorities, and 

also fails to apply the correct standard in its interpretation of legislative 

intent - simply reading and interpreting legislation according to its 

preference rather than interpreting "in a manner which upholds ... 
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constitutionality if possible" per Tukwila, supra. See, ~. the court's 

opinion at 10, purporting to describe the effect of RCW 70.951.005(2). 

"When enacting the statutory scheme for the disposal of biosolids, the 

legislature directed Ecology to ensure that biosolids are 'reused as a 

beneficial commodity' to the maximum extent possible." RCW 

70.951.005(2) actually reads as follows: "The legislature declares that a 

program shall be established to manage municipal sewage sludge and that 

the program shall, to the maximum extent possible, ensure that municipal 

sewage sludge is reused as a beneficial commodity and is managed in a 

manner that minimizes risk to public health and the environment." 

[Emphasis added.] 

The Court of Appeals claims the ordinance frustrates the purpose 

of the legislature as divined through RCW 70.951.005(2), but that is 

because it strikes out an entire phrase. The statute as a whole shows that 

the legislature meant, at least as strongly as it did that sewage sludge be 

reused, that public health be protected- an acknowledged purpose of the 

county's ordinance. The Court of Appeals's failure to acknowledge the 

actual content of the laws it purports to interpret are contrary to this 

court's requirement to interpret the statute in favor of the county. ~ 

Schillberg, supra, Tukwila, supra. 
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The entire opinion of the Court of Appeals is contaminated by its 

failure to acknowledge that its burden is not to discover a single way the 

W ahkiakum County ordinance can be struck down, but to foreclose every 

way it could reasonably be upheld. This court should accept review and 

apply the correct standard, not just for the sake of the county, but for the 

other municipalities that will, if this case is upheld, be challenged in the 

exercise of their police powers by special interests emboldened by the 

appellate decision herein. 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l), the Decision of the Court of 
Appeals is in Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court 
Establishing the Standard of Review for Conflict Analysis 

Up until this case, the courts have used the following test to 

determine whether an ordinance conflicts with law: "An ordinance must 

yield to a statute on the same subject on either of two grounds: if the 

statute preempts the field, leaving no room for concurrent jurisdiction, or 

if a conflict exists between the two that cannot be harmonized." King 

County v. Taxpayers of King County, 133 Wash.2d 584, 612, 949 P.2d 

1260 (1997), citing Brown v. Yakima, 116 Wash.2d 556, 559, 807 P.2d 

353 (1991). (The Department denies it has preempted the field. See Page 

1 of its Answer to Amicus Brief of Lewis County, Appendix H herein.) 
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The Court of Appeals now reads the case of Biggers v. City of 

Bainbridge Island, 162 Wn.2d 683, 699, 169 P.3d 14 (2007), to provide 

that "an ordinance conflicts with state law if a county exercises power that 

the relevant state law did not confer to the counties." Opinion, 6. This 

misreads Biggers to overrule Schillberg, supra, and creates a new prong of 

conflict analysis that greatly weakens the police power of municipalities. 

This court has held that the state constitution "Article 11, § 11 is a 

direct delegation of police power. [This power is] as ample within its 

limits as that possessed by the [state] legislature itself. It requires no 

legislative sanction for its exercise so long as the subject-matter is local, 

and the regulation reasonable and consistent with the general laws." 

Brown v. City of Yakima, 116 Wash.2d 556, 559, 807 P.2d 353, 

354 (1991), citing Haas v. Kirkland, 78 Wash.2d 929, 932, 481 P.2d 9 

(1971) (quoting Detamore v. Hindley, 83 Wash. 322, 326, 145 P. 462 

(1915)). Thus, the legislature need not "confer" power to municipalities. 

In Biggers, this court did not change that rule. Biggers was 

decided on the ground that the subject the municipality was regulating was 

outside its police power: that the local governing body was attempting to 

regulate shoreline management, and that our state constitution granted 

exclusive power to the State to manage shorelines: 
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Article XVII, section 1 of the Washington Constitution declares 
that shorelines were originally owned by the state, and therefore subject to 
state regulation. Even after sale or lease of shorelines, the state continues 
to hold remaining sovereign interests of the public. Indeed, the SMA was 
expressly based on the proposition that shorelines are of "statewide 
significance." Local governments do not possess any inherent 
constitutional police power over state shoreline use. 

Biggers, 162 Wash.2d at 694 (emphasis added). 

Biggers was not a case in which the local government had any 

power to regulate what it purported to regulate. But here, there is no 

dispute that the police power is being used to regulate biosolids; the only 

question is whether the county's and the state's uses of their police power 

are in conflict. The Biggers case is therefore inapplicable here. But more 

importantly for this court as it determines whether to grant review, the 

Court of Appeals has used an incorrect reading of Biggers to create a new 

prong of conflict analysis that undercuts this court's prior rulings. This 

court has held that the counties' police power is as "ample within its limits 

as that possessed by the legislature itself." Brown, supra. The Court of 

Appeals attempts to replace that rule with one that requires a "statutory 

scheme" to "confer" power to counties. Opinion, 6. This not only lacks 

support from the Biggers opinion, it directly contradicts this court's 

holding in Weden that a county may "further regulate" within a statutory 

scheme. Weden, 135 Wash.2d at 720. 
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It is hard to overemphasize the change the Court of Appeals has 

wrought on the relative status of cities and counties vis a vis the 

Washington state legislature. Cities and counties have long been 

accustomed to the full exercise of their constitutionally-derived powers, 

even in areas also regulated by the state. See, ~. Eze, supra: 

Washington case law ... establishes that a local ordinance does not 
conflict with a state statute in the constitutional sense merely because one 
prohibits a wider scope of activity than the other. Republic v. Brown, 97 
Wash.2d at 919, 652 P.2d 955; State ex rel. Schillberg v. Everett Dist. 
Justice Court, 92 Wash.2d 106, 108, 594 P.2d 448 (1979); Bellingham v. 
Schampera, 57 Wash.2d [106] at 111, 356 P.2d 292; State v. Rabon, 45 
Wash.App. 832, 836-38, 727 P.2d 995 (1986). These principles have been 
succinctly stated as follows:

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