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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals Applied a Standard of Review 
Consistent With This Court's Decisions in Conflict-Preemption 
Cases 

In its review of the superior court order on summary judgment, the 

Cowt of Appeals applied de novo review, citing Weden v. San Juan 

County, 135 Wn.2d 678, 689, 958 P.2d 273 (1998). Petition, App. A at 4. 

The Court of Appeals found that there were no disputed facts and that the 

issue before it was whether the County's ordinance violates article XI, 

section 11 of the Washington Constitution. !d. The Court of Appeals 

stood in the shoes of the trial court and presumed the ordinance valid, but 

nevertheless concluded that it conflicted with state law. 

The County has urged acceptance for review on the grounds that 

the court's decision conflicts with several decisions of this Court. The 

County contends that the court either explicitly refused, or simply failed to 

apply, presumptions that are required when reviewing a challenge to the 

constitutionality of an ordinance. The County's contentions are meritless. 

1. The Court of Appeals properly considered the "beyond 
a reasonable doubt" standard. 

The County cites School Districts' Alliance for Adequate Funding 

of Special Education v. State, 170 Wn.2d 599, 605-06, 244 P.3d 1 (2010), 

for the principle that a "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard is used when 
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a statute is challenged as unconstitutional. As this Court has explained, 

the standard "refers to the fact that one challenging a statute must, by 

argument and research, convince the court that there is no reasonable 

doubt that the statute violates the constitution." !d. (quoting Island Cnty. 

v. State, 135 Wn.2d 141, 147, 955 P.2d 377 (1998)). This Court has been 

"hesitant to strike a duly enacted statute unless fully convinced, after a 

searching legal analysis, that the statute violates the constitution." !d. 

"Ultimately, however, the judiciary must make the decision, as a matter of 

law, whether a given statute is within the legislature's power to enact or 

whether it violates a constitutional mandate." Island Cnty., 135 Wn.2d 

at 147. 

The County contends that the Court of Appeals "explicitly refuses" 

to apply this standard. Petition at 6. This is incorrect. What the Court of 

Appeals rejected was the County's unsupported interpretation of that 

standard as meaning "cannot possibly be wrong." See Petition, App. J:.. 

at 4 n.3. Washington courts do not define "beyond a reasonable doubt" by 

requiring the party or the court to meet a standard of "cannot possibly be 

wrong." 

Moreover, the Court of Appeals nowhere "refuses" to adhere to the 

"beyond a reasonable doubt" standard. Rather, the court considered this 

standard and found "no valid reason for ( 1) departing from the standards 
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of review articulated [by this Court] in cases addressing whether an 

ordinance conflicts with state laws, or (2) imposing the unrealistically high 

burden on the Department to prove that it cannot possibly be wrong .... " 

See Petition, App. A at 4 n.3. The court applied this Court's reasoning and 

ultimately decided, as a matter of law, that the County ordinance and state 

law could not be reconciled. The court committed no error. 

2. The Court of Appeals properly presumed the 
constitutionality of the ordinance. 

The County cites Johnson v. Johnson, 96 Wn.2d 255, 258, 634 

P.2d 877, 882 (1981 ), for the principle that "all legally necessary facts 

required to uphold constitutionality are presumed to exist," and contends 

that the Court of Appeals failed to adhere to this requirement. Petition 

at 10. However, the County makes no attempt to identify any legally 

necessary facts that the Court of Appeals failed to presume. Indeed, the 

County provides no support whatsoever for its position that the decision of 

the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's decision in Johnson. 

Next, the County cites Tukwila School District 406 v. City of 

Tukwila, 140 Wn. App. 735, 743, 167 P.3d 1167 (2007), for the principle 

that ordinances should be interpreted in a manner that upholds their. 

constitutionality if possible, and contends that the Court of Appeals failed 

to adhere to it. The meaning of the County's ordinance, however, is plain 
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and unequivocal. Neither party in this case has ever suggested that "No 

Class B biosolids, septage, or sewage sludge may be applied to any land 

within the County of Wahkiakum" is subject to more than one 

interpretation. Nor does the County now offer any "interpretation" of this 

ordinance that would assist in harmonizing it with state law. There is no 

basis for holding that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 

with this Court's decision in Tukwila School District. 

The County also cites Tukwila School District v. City of Tukwila 

for the principle: "Every presumption will be in favor of 

constitutionality," and contends, again without support, that the court 

failed to apply it. The Court of Appeals stated explicitly that it presumes 

the constitutionality of the challenged ordinance. Petition, App. A at 4. 

And the County makes no effort to identify any presumption that the court 

failed to apply. Ultimately, even with this strong presumption of 

constitutionality, the court found the County's ordinance in conflict with 

state law because it banned what state law explicitly permits and 

encourages. 

The County cites State ex rei. Schillberg v. Everett District Justice 

Court, 92 Wn.2d 106, 108, 594 P.2d 448 (1979), for the principle: "A 

statute will not be construed as taking away the power of a municipality to 

legislate unless this intent is clearly and expressly stated," contending 

10 



without argument that the Court of Appeals did not adhere to it. The court 

did, however, adhere to this rule. 

In Schillberg, this Court upheld a local ordinance prohibiting the 

use of internal combustion motors on certain lakes, holding that it was not 

in conflict with a statute concerned with the safe operation of motor boats 

because the statute did not grant permission to operate boats in any place, 

there being no express statement or words from which such permission 

could be inferred. Id. In stating that "the provisions of the chapter are 

concerned with safe operation of motor boats and do not in any way grant 

permission to operate boats in any place," the Schillberg court emphasized 

that the statute under consideration in that case simply did not have as part 

of its purpose to grant permission. !d. Had this been its purpose, the court 

would have been led to inquire into the nature of the "permission" and 

whether it rose to the level of implying a reduction in local authority. 

Weden, 135 Wn.2d at 694-95 (holding that a licensing statute enacted to 

raise tax revenues and create a title system for boats did not amount to 

permission that limited local authority). 1 But because the Court in 

Schill berg held that the provisions of the statute at issue were concerned 

only with the safe operation of boats, and did not confer any permission at 

1 The County has throughout this litigation misrepresented the holding of this 
Court in Wed(}n by quoting a passage from the Weden dissent (J. Sanders) as though it 
were the majority's holding. It continues this unfortunate practice in its petition. See 
Petition at 9. 
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all, it was not necessary to inquire further into whether the local ordinance 

prohibited what state law permitted. 

Here, by contrast, the state biosolids law clearly establishes a 

comprehensive permitting program with the express intention of limiting 

pre-existing local authority. Not only does the biosolids statute, through 

this program, confer permission to land apply Class B biosolids, its very 

purpose is to encourage such land application "to the maximum extent 

possible." RCW 70.951.005(2). The county ordinance here conflicts with 

and indeed thwarts this purpose, thus distinguishing this case from 

Schillberg. The County's contention that the Court of Appeals decision 

conflicts with Schillberg is misplaced. 

Finally, the County argues that the reasoning in a federal case, 

Welch v. Rappahannock County, 888 F. Supp. 753 (W.D. Va. 1995), 

demonstrates that Ecology has not met its burden of showing the 

ordinance and statute irreconcilable "beyond a reasonable doubt." Petition 

at 9-10. In fact, Welch shows the opposite. 

In Welch, a federal district court held that the federal Clean Water 

Act (CWA) did not preempt a county ordinance that banned one of three 

possible methods of use or disposal of sewage sludge, where the CW A 

preferred none of the methods over the others and expressly deferred to 

local decision-making. Welch, 888 F. Supp. at 757-58. Critical to the 
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Welch decision was the lack of any statutory expression of preference for a 

particular method of use or disposal of sewage sludge. On that point, the 

Welch court distinguished its decision from the Eighth Circuit's in 

ENSCO, Inc. v. Dumas, 807 F.2d 743 (8th Cir. 1986), which held invalid a 

county ordinance banning the treatment and disposal of a substance 

because it conflicted with a federal statute that affirmatively encouraged 

such treatment and disposal. Welch, 888 F. Supp. at 757-58 (citing 

ENSCO, 807 F.2d at 743, 745). 

This case is more like ENSCO than Welch. Far from offering land 

application as merely one of several equally acceptable options, 

Washington's biosolids law requires land application "to the maximum 

extent possible," provides for the prohibition of its primary alternative, 

and allows for local permitting and enforcement only through delegation 

at Ecology's discretion. The Welch decision does not show how the 

County's ordinance can be harmonized with the biosolids law. It supports 

the opposite conclusion. 

B. The Court of Appeals Followed Well-Established Conflict
Preemption Principles When It Found That RCW 70.95J Does 
Not Confer on Local Governments the Authority to Override 
State Law 

The County argues that the Court of Appeals "creates a new prong 

of conflict analysis that greatly weakens the police power of 
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municipalities." Petition at 14. The County's argument, however, relies 

on a distortion of the court's holding. 

In its briefing to the Court of Appeals, the County argued 

incorrectly tha~ the Legislature intended a preference for local decision

making in the field of biosolids management, and that RCW 70.95J and 

WAC 173-308 affirmatively expressed such a preference. See Petition, 

App. G at 14-15, 18, 24-26. The County argued that, in adopting its 

biosolids ordinance, it was merely exercising the authority granted to it 

under RCW 70.95J and WAC 173-308. Petition, App. G at 25 ("How can 

an initiative for local control 'thwart the purpose' of a law that has built its 

preference for local control, in so many words, into its provisions?"). The 

Court of App~als acknowledged and rejected the County's position. 

Acknowledging it, the court stated: "The County argues that it has the 

authority to further regulate land application ofbiosolids under WAC 173-

308-030(6), including banning land application of class B biosolids." 

Petition, App. A at 12 (emphasis added). Rejecting it, the court held that 

in taking that position, the County claimed "power the legislature did not 

confer on local governments under the statutory scheme for management 

or disposal ofbiosolids." Petition, App. A at 12. 

The County, in its petition, now misrepresents the Court of 

Appeals as having held that, because RCW 70.95J does not confer any 
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biosolids regulating authority on the County, the County has none at all, 

not even under article XI, section 11 of the State Constitution. Petition 

at 15. But this (mis)representation of the court's holding cannot be 

reconciled with the court's explicit statement to the contrary: "Although 

we agree that the County may have the authority to further regulate land 

' 
application of biosolids to comply with other laws, we do not agree that 

the County has the authority to completely ban the land application of 

class B biosolids when such a ban conflicts with state law." Petition, 

App. A at 12. Thus, the County is mistaken that the court has created "a 

new prong of conflict analysis." The court's decision falls squarely within 

this Court's well-established principles of conflict preemption. 

C. The Court of Appeals, in Taking Judicial Notice of Regulatory 
Facts Brought to Its Attention by Amici, Did Not Act in 
Conflict With Any Decisions of This Court or the Court of 
Appeals 

The County contends that the Court of Appeals improperly based 

its decision on facts not before the trial court. But the "facts" it is upset 

about are simply descriptions of state rules and regulations that are subject 

to judicial notice and were before the trial court in any event. 

The County cites Washington Federation of State Employees v. 

Office of Financial Management, 121 Wn.2d 152, 163, 849 P.2d 1201 

(1993), and Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 678, 151 P.3d 
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1038 (2007), for the proposition that generally a court will not consider at 

the appellate level factual allegations that were not before a trial court in 

granting summary judgment. Petition at 19, 20. The County objects to the 

following "facts" from the Court of Appeals opinion: 

As the farm amici explain, the permitting process for land 
application of biosolids is in-depth and time consuming. In 
order to obtain a permit for land application of biosolids the 
farm must submit a Site-Specific Land Application Plan 
that takes into account 'site boundaries, proposed staging 
areas, location of all water bodies and wells, and buffer 
zones to protect sensitive areas.' Br. of Farm Amici at 6. 

Petition, App. A at 8-9. The Court of Appeals, in its Order Granting in 

Part and Denying in Part Wahk:iakum County's Motions to Strike at 2, 7 

(Petition, App. E), properly held that such facts were subject to judicial 

notice as administrative facts helpful to the court. See ER 201 (providing 

for judicial notice); Ochoa Ag Unlimited, LLC v. Delanoy, 128 Wn. App. 

165, 172, 114 P.3d 692 (2005) ("purpose of an amicus brief is to help the 

court with points of law"). The administrative facts at issue concern the 

requirements of WAC 173-308-90003, which specify the contents of a 

Site-Specific Land Application Plan. Thus, the Court of Appeals has 

merely taken judicial notice of biosolids management requirements in the 

Washington Administrative Code. Moreover, the same regulations, and 

their import, were cited by Ecology in its briefing. See Appendix B at 9 

(Appellant's Reply Brief, citing WAC 173-308-90003). There is no 
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conflict with Washington Federation of State Employees or Green v .. 

Normandy Park. 

D. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public 
Interest That Should Be Determined by This Court 

The County contends that review should be accepted pursuant to 

RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves "a matter of topical interest." 

However, rather than attempt to show that this case involves an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, the 

County turns instead to a set of unrelated conflict-preemption cases, 

arguing that the current case is interesting simply because these other 

conflict-preemption cases are of "topical interest." These other cases 

address whether local ordinances banning the location of marijuana-

related businesses are conflict-preempted by a state law authorizing the 

issuance of licenses for such businesses. E.g., MMH, LLC & Graybeard 

Holdings, LLC v. City of Fife, No. 90780-3. Whether or not these other 

cases warrant review by this Court, their mere existence is not a sufficient 

reason for accepting review here. The issues here involve a different 

statutory and regulatory scheme and different facts. While the other cases 

must be decided under the same well-established conflict-preemption 

principles as the Court of Appeals applied in this case, that fact alone does 
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not call the present decision into question or provide any reason to accept 

review of it. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Ecology respectfully requests that the Supreme Court deny 

Wahkiakum County's Petition for Review.